IN THE MATTER OF: .

BEFORE THE COMMISSIONER OF

FINANCIAL FREEDOM | FINANCIAL REGULATION

ASSOCIATES, LLC

and | , |

TAMIEKA SHELISE GOODE, OAH NO.: LABOR -CFR-76-20-14979
RESPONDENTS  [CFRNO: FY2019-55

PROPOSED FINAL ORDER

The Proposed Decision ("Proposed Decision”) of the Administrative Law Judge (the

"ALI"), issued on January 13, 2021 it the above captioned case, having been received, read

and considered, it is, by the Commissioner of Financial Regulation (the "Commissioner") this

of May of March, 2021 ORDERED,

A. That the Pfopose_d Findings of Fact ("FF") listed on pages 5-9 of the Proposed Decision be,

and heteby are, ADOPTED;

B. That the Proposed Conclusions of Law (“COL”) listed on pages 1920 of the Proposed

Decisibn_be, anrj hereby are, ADOPTED, except that COL 2 is hereby AMENDED and

RESTATED in its entirety to read as follows:

2 The Commissioner did not produce sufficient evidence to prove the

Respondents violated section 14-1902(3) of the Commercial Law- Article by

assisting Maryland consumiers to inake a statement that is false or misleading to the

person to whom the consumers applied for an extension of credit regarding the

consumér’s credit standing, Md. Code Ann., Com. Law §14-1902(3) (2013);

C. Pursuant to §10-220(d) of the State Gov. Att., Ann, Code of Md. the Commissioner finds that

COL 2, as stated by the ALI ; required modification to clarify that the conclusion found the




Commissioner did jm:)t produce 'sufﬁci,ei;t evidence to prove the Respondents violated §14-
- 1902(3) of the Commeicial Law Aiticle as opposed to affirmatively finding the Respdndents
complied with §14-1902(3) of the Commercial Law Article; |
. The ALI’s recmnmgndation for a cease and _de‘s‘ist order be and hereby is ADOPTED;
. Respondents shall immediately CEASE AND DESIST from aperating a credit services
business in the State of Maryland; R
. The ALJ’s recormendation of the a‘l‘nou.n‘t of the civil Penalty or fine imposed onthe
Respondents and the analysis supporting such l'ecpﬁnnendaﬁm} be and hereby is RETECTED
and teplaced as set forth below:
i, The amount of civil penalty shall be $10,000,
i, The analysis and facts supporting the $10,000 ciVii penalty are as set fbrth 1n Section
G hereof; |

. Pugsuant to .§10-220(_d) of the State Gov. Art,, Ann, Code of Md. *;he Connnisﬁ'oner ha‘.s
increaded the amount of the fine recommended by the ALJ after having considered the analysis
s;lppol'tillg't11at recommendation and the factors established by §2-115(c) of the Fin. Ins, Art;?
“Ann, Code of Md. The findings made by the ALJ supporta determinatioﬁ that the Résp ondents
commiitted 561‘_16113 violations of Maryland law. Reépondents establiélied and operated a credit
services business without the license required by Marylaad law. Respondents® failure to obtain
a required license si gil_iﬁcalltiy impail_‘_s.the Cglllimlissidzle;"-s ability to exercise supervision and
regulatory oversight over the 'Respondelits’ business as requived by the General Assembly.
~ Respondents faihire to list licensing information in their advestisementts impairs the 'abi,'[it:y of
consumers to know who regulates the Respondents’ business and therefore where to file

complaints. The Respondents’ failure to post a bond impairs the rights of the Commissioner "



and .Mar-ylalnd (_:01131.%11161-'5 as the General Assembly imposed a bond requirement to protect the .
Coﬂuﬂissiomr and Maryland consumers from har‘m caused by a licensee. Because these
failures substantially impair the Commisstoner’s ability to protect Maryland consurmers and
expose Maryland consumers to greater 1'1'sk,: the-Comnijssioner'ﬁlgds the Respondents

committed serious violations of applicable law.

‘The ALJ 1-1‘0t,ed the Comini"ssiontar presented 110 evidence that the Respondents were riot acting in
- good faith on behalf of‘l Mary]and consumers, Section 2115 (c) does pot limit this ‘analysis to -
good faith only on behalf of consuz_nefs and the iecord contains information from Which afinding
could be made the Respondents did not act in good Faith, Nomrithstaﬂd_ihg, the Comiinissioner

- will not amend the ALJ’s findings regarding the good faith of flie Respondents but will rather

consider televant information in connection with §2-115(c) (6) discussed below,

The Commissioner agrees with the ALJs finding that tlie Commissioner presented no evidence

of previous vioiatioilé of by the Respondents.

Although the Respondents’ failure to pbta'm the 1'éq11i1'ed_ liceiise and bond could be deemed to
have a deleterions effect on the credit services business, the Cbm_missioner will not amend the
ALY findings regarding the effects of the Respondents® conduct on the public atid the credit
scrﬁz_ice_s business. Rather, the Commissioner will consider relevant ’infotma‘tion in connection

with §2-115(c) (6) discussed below.

“The Comrnissioner agrees with the ALJs finding that the Conimissioner presented no evidence
of the Respondents’ assets, However, the Conunissioner notes that the Respondents’ failure to
obtain a license, failure to cooperate with the investigation and failure to attend the heating

deprived the Commissioner of the information needed to consider this factor, |




The Commnissioner disagl'ees with the ALI’s finding that the Commissioner presented o
evidence of additional fuctors warratiting a sibstantial penalty. The ALPs findings of fact
include: (i) :Res]JOndcnt Goode contacted the Commissioner’s Office following receipt of the
Commissioner’s subpoena and was inforied of the 1ic,ensing 1'equ'i1femen:t and the investigation;
(ii) the R_ésponden‘t Goode agieed to meet with the Conunissioner’s investigator on August 5,
2019, but failed torappear'at this meeting; (iii) all efforts by the Commissioner to oBtain
Respondents’ business '1'ecoi'ds and to schedule irivestigatory interviews W‘lﬂl. Respondent Goode
or anyone affiliated with Respondent Financial Freedom failed; (_iv’) Respondent’ Financial
" Freedom continued to- maintain a website advertising its scwicés after leatning of tﬁe
Commissioner’s investigation and filing Ar_ticleé of Cancellation with SDAT; and (‘Vj
Respondents faii-ed io appeai for the hearing conduct by the ALJ despite having received adequate

notice. These findings are relevant factors for determining the amount of the penalty.

In‘the one interaction R_equndeﬁt Goode had with flle Commissioner’s Office, Respondent
._Gdoiie aCk_noWiadged 1‘eceiﬁ’r of the Commissioner’s st’xbpo;:‘na and stated she did not know
Res‘pmﬂmﬁs‘ business yequired a lic_e,nse. Regardless of her ﬁast hxowlgdge, as a result of that
interaction, Respondent Goode kuew of the licensing requirepwnt and of the ongoing
“investigation. Despite this lmowlcdga; Respondeits chose not to cooperate with the investigation.
This failure -deprived the Commissionier of an ability to determine the fill scope of the,
Respondeénts’ activities, including an analysis of whether tho;e activities had a delsterious effect
o consumers or the credit services business and whether ﬁespolidents' harined sny Marylanci '
coiismmets. This failure of cooperation prevented the Commissioner from identifying any
Maryland consumers I-wh'o might be entitled to restitution for Respondeﬂts‘ detions. Thro‘ﬁgh this

failure of coéperation, the Respondents declined the opportunity to present favorable factors for -



the Commissioner’s consideration, Finally, this lack of cooperation prevented the Commissioner

- from confirmiig that Respondents stopped offering credit services to Maryland consumers, Just

as the Commissione;' may consider a respondent’s cooperation as a factor justifying a lower
penalty, the Commissioner may consider a respondent’s failure to cooperate asa factor justifying
a higher penalty, The Commissioner chooses to consider the Respondents’ complete failure to
cooperate with the investigation a's_ a factor justifying a decision not to redice the penalty but
rather have the penalty reflect the seriousness of the conclli_S‘iozaé of law found by the A’LJ . The
Commissioner notes that, althongh imposing a penalty higher than tha”f reconmended by the ALJ s
the penalty ilalﬁosed herein is signiﬁcantly less than the ﬁlaxi111L1111 amount allowed by apblicable

law and what the Comiiissioner suggested at the hearing.
The penalty in this case is caleulated as follows:

s  $6,000 for the initial violation bf opel‘atipg acredit services business without a license,
e . $4,000 for all subsequent vio!ations_ which include receiving money or other valuable
_consideration from Maryland cOﬂsUiners withiout beiﬂg lic,ensed as a credit services
business byr fhe Commissioner; making false and mislea(_iiné statements in the offer
or sale of the services of a eredit services business; failf_n_g, to con‘spicuou-siy state a
license number issued by the Commissiénef i Respoudents’ ‘.adveﬂis,i_ng; and
conducting a credit services business without a surety bond;
The Respondents shall pay 'a civil penalty of $10_,000; |
Respondents shall pay the Commissioner the penalty in‘tpds,e_d herein, by eashier's cheéck or
certified check made payab_le to the "Commissioner of Fitiancial Regulation," the amount of

$10,000, within twenty (20) days from the date of this Proposed Final Order; \




1L

K.

Respondents shall sendl all correspondence, notices, civil penalties, and other required

submissions to the Commissioner at the following address: Commissioner of Fihancial

Regulation, 500 N. Calvert Street, Suite 402, Baltimore, MD 21202, Attention; Proceedings

Adininistrator; and
The records and publications of the Commissioner reflect the Proposed Final Order,

Pursuant to COMAR 09.01._03.0-9, Respondents have the right to file eﬁceptions to the
Propised Final Order anid present arguments to the Comimissioner. Respondents have twenty
(20) days from ﬁle postmark date of this Proposed Final Order to file exceptions with the |
Commissioner. COMAR 09.01 .-03.09A<1). Unless written exceptions ate filed within the twenty
(20)-day deadline noted dbove,.this Order shall be deemed to be the final decision of the

Commissioner and szjectftp judicial review pursuant to State Gov. Art., Ann. Code of Md. §10-

- 222

Respondeiits may have the right to file a petition for judicial review; however, the filing

-of a petition for judicial review does not automatically stay the eriforcement of this order,

Date: ‘ . " MARYLAND COMMISSIONER OF
- FINANCIAL REGULATION

Antonio P, Salazar,
Cominissioner of Financial
Reguiation
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PROPOSED DECISION!

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
- ISSUES |
SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT
" DISCUSSION
PROPOSED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
RECOMMENDED ORDER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 1, 2020, the Commissioner of Financial Regulation (Commissioner) issued a
Charge Letter agaihst Financial Freedc;m Associates, LLC (Respondent Financial Freedom) and
Tamicka Shelise é«-oode (Respondent Goode), (or cbilectively, the Respond¢nts), alleging that
they engaged in a‘n:::redit services business in Maryland without hﬁving the requisite license or.
surety bond. The Charge Letter advised the Respondents of the Commissioner’s authority to
issue a Cease and Desist Ordler and advised the Respondents of the potential sanctions, including

financial penalties,: that the Commissioner may impose for the alleged violations. The Charge

! By letter of July 1, 2920, the Commissioner delegated authority to the OAH to issue proposed findings of fact,
proposed conclusions of law, and a recommended order, '



" Letter also advised the Respéndeﬁts_ that a hegring on the Charge Letter and prg_posed sanctions
would be conducted by the Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) and advi;laed the
Respondents that failure to appear at the heéring may result in imposition of safnctions.

On August 14, 2Q20, the OAH issued a Notice of Hearing to the Respondents advising
them that a hearing would be conducted on the Charge Letter én October 20, '25:320 at the OAH in
Hunt Valley, Maryland. The OAH mailed the Notice of Hearing by béth certified mail and
regular mail to the Respondent Financial Freedom’s business address, to the address of Kevin
Pitts,‘the residént agent reﬂected on Respondent Financial Freedom’s Articles :‘_Jf Organization
on file with the State Departmenf of Assessments and Taxation (SDAT), to Shawana Lee, an
updated resident agent on file with the SDAT, and to Re.spondent Goode’s address listed on
Respondent Financial Freedom’s Articles of Organization. Mr. Pitts receiﬁed the certified mail as
did Ms. Lee. The United States Postal Services (USPS) returned the certified maﬂ notices sent to.
Respondent Goode and té Respondent Financial F reed/om’s business address, tgoting they were
unclaimed. The Notice of Hearing mailed to the Respéndents and to the residei'}t‘ agents by
regﬁiar mail were not returned to the OAH by the USPS. Thus, I conclude the Respondents were
notified of the location, date and time of the hearing” |

On October 20, 2020, I convened a hearing at the OAH in Hunt Valley,:Maryiand. Md.

‘Code Ann., Fin. Inst. § 2-115(a) (2020).° SophierAsike, Assistant Attorney Ger;'eral, represented

* the Commissioner. The Respondents did not appear, nor did anyone claiming to represent them.

2 The OAH Rules of Procedure, at Code of Maryland Regulations (COMAR) 28.02.01.15C, Method of Giving
Notice, provides: (1) Except as otherwise required by law, a notice issued by the Office shall be sent to the parties
by United States mail, by personal delivery, or by courier delivery at their addresses on record with the Office, (2) If
notice is given by United States mail, the notice is effective at the end of the 5th day after its deposit in the mail.(3)
Proof that notice has been given may be made by the dated file' copy in the case file. Here, the OAH file contains the
dated file copy of the Notice of Hearing reflecting it was mailed to the Respondents by United States mail.

3 Unless otherwise noted, alf references to the Financial Institutions Article are to the 2020 Replacement Volume,

2



Procédure m this case is governed by the provisiops of the Administrative Procedure Act,
the hearing reguia;ions of the Department of Labor, and the Rules of Procedure of the OAHL ‘
Md. Code Ann., S‘:tl'ate Gov’t §§ 10-201 through 10-226 (2014 & Supp. 2020); COMAR
09.01.03; and COMAR 28.02.01. | | |

: ISSUES!

1. Did thé:'Respondcnts violate section 14-1902(1) of the Commercial Law Article by

receivi.ng money or other valuable considerations from Maryland consumers without -
' beiﬁg lfcensed as a credit services business by the Commissionef?

2. Did the Respondents violate se_ctilon 14-1902(3) of the Commercial Law Article by

assistin.__g or advising Maryland consurhers to make a statement that is false or
. misleac;iing regarding the cqnsumer’s credit standing to é person to whom the
'consurr}ers applied for an extension of credit?

3. Did the Respo;ndents violate section 14-1902(4) Aof the Commercial Law Article by
makiné' false or misleading representations in the offer or sale of the services of a
credit s';ervices business?

4, Did thé Respondents vfolate section 14-1903 of the Coﬁxﬁercial Law lArticle,, aﬁd/or
section’s 11-203.1 aﬁd 11-302(b) of the Financial Institutions Article by engaging in a
credit gervices business without Being licensed to do so by thé Coﬁmissioner?

5. Did the Respondents violaj:e section 14-1903.1 of the Comimercial Law Articie by
failing fo conspicuously state é license number issued by the Commissioner in tﬁeir
adverti:sing, or, if qualified, failing to conspicuously state a licensing exémption in

their advertising?

* The Issues are as reflected in the “Charges Against the Respondents” Counts 1 through 6, of the Charge Letter,
converted from declarative form, “the Respondents violated” to inquisitive form “did the Respondents violate?”

3



6. Did the Respondents violate section 14-1908 of the Commercial Law Atticle by.

7.

Exhibits

conducting a credit services business without a surety bond?
If the Respondents violated any of sections 14-1902(1), 14-1902(3);_14-1 902(4), 14-
1903, 14-1903.1, or 14-1908 of the.Commercial Law Afticle, or viélated sections 11-

203.1 or 11-302(b) of the Financial Institutions Article, what sanction is appropriate?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I admitted the following numbered exhibits offered by the Commissioner:

1.

2.

6.

7.

Notice of Hearing, August 14, 2020
Charge Letter, July 1, 2020

Fmanmal Freedom Associates, LL.C Business Entlty Search, undated, and Articles
of Organization, October 5, 2017

Financial Freedom Associates, LLC Website, printed October 9, 2_019

Financial Freedom Associates Credit 101 Course on Eventbrite (website), printed
October 9, 2019

Consumer Services Case Report, May 14, 2019

Report of Investigation, August 6,. 2019

The Respondents did not appear, and therefore, offered no exhibits.

Testimony

The Commissioner presented the following witness: Zenaida Velez-Dorsey, Investigator.

The Respondents did not appear, and therefore, did not present any witnesses.



PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT

I find the following facts by a prepbnderance of the evidence:

1 On Oc%ob_erS, 2017, Respondent Financial Fréedom filed Articles of Organization .
with the SDAT. In'\.j its Articles of Organization, Respondeﬁt Financial Freedom déscribed itself
as a ﬁmited liabiliiyrcompany, the purpose of which was to provide asslistance to consumers to
improve their FICO scores and to make it easier and possible to purchase a home or vehicle. The
Articles of Organization stated that Respondent Financial Freedom’s business address was 10 W.

. Eager Street, Suitér315 , Egltimore, Maryland 211201, and that Kevin Pitts of 2705 Mount Holly
Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21216 was its resident agent. The Articles of Organizétion bears a
signature of Kevin;Pitts as resident agent. Respoﬁdent Goode -sigm;:d the Articles of Organization

as the filing party;'with a return address of 2105 N, Pulaski Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21217,
2. On Juﬁ:e 21, 2017, Maryland résiden_t_ purportedly residing at -

' _, (Respondent Financial Freedom’s business
address),'wrote a letter to Cr;edit Col_lection Service, P.O. Box 607, Norwood, MA 02062 (CCS_),
a debt coIleCtioﬁ a.:il'ld consumer reportinglagencry, which she deécribed as a “formal complaint.”’
Therein,_complaine_:d that CCS was reporting inaccurate and incomplete credit
information‘about "her,-and that as far as_knew, CCS had no connection to Comcast
Cable. The letter i;aciuded r.eferencés to the Fair Credit Reporting Act,‘Section 609(a)(1)(a), and
reminded CCS of s obligations under federal Iaw._lefter dernan&ed CCS delete all
references to her a,'ccount. ‘ |

3. I onc 21, 2017 letter to CCS was drafted by and mailed by the

Respondents, and the Respondents‘chargéd- a fee for this service. .



4, On June 13, 2017,_ personally i*_l{vrote a letter to

CCS réquesting it provide information to her relating to information CCS may“have provided to
_ consumer ctedit reporting agencies. | |

5. OnJuly 24, 2018,_, purportedly residing at 10 W. Eagiar Street, Suite
315, Baltimore, Maryland, 21201, (Respondent Financiai Freedom’s business g;ddréss), wrote a
ie’rter to CCS, which she described as a “formal complaint.” Therein_complained that
CCS was reporting inaccurate and incomplete credit: informatioﬁ about hér._ ‘
referenced accouniN The letter included references to the Fair Cradit Reporting
Act, Section 609(a)(1)(a), and reminded CCS of its obligations under federal Iz.w._
letter demanded CCS delete all references to her account. )

6. |GG 1y 24, 2018 l‘etter‘ was drafted by and mailed by the Respondents, and
the Responderits charged her a fee for this service. |

7. On December 20, 2018, CCS received ‘another letter from_ dated October
30, 2018, demanding information, reminding CCS of its obligations under fedf:'ﬁ_’rai léw, and citing _
Black’s Law Dictionary. Tﬁis ‘let'ter was drafted and mailed by the Respondents, and the
Réspondents charged| - fee for this letter. |

8. During the dates July 20, 2017 through February 3, 2019, Respondent Fiﬁancial
Freedom drafted and mailed at least four letters relating to Maryland residents ;.0 the Better
‘Business Bureau and to the Coﬁsumer Financial Protection Bureau, each letter_jnlsompiaining 7
about the credit goliection and credit répoﬁing practices of CCS. Each of the le:itters had a
common theme - that the debtors had requested CCS provide a copy of the coﬁtfact or agreement
between the debtor and creditor evidencing the debt CCS sought to collect and‘that CCS had
been unresponsive to that request. Each of the letters were drafted with the _nan—le of person

complaining, but with Respondent Financial Freedom’s business address as the address from



o

which the letters were sc;,nt. Each of the letters requested that if a contract or agreement between
the debtor and crecsiitor could not be produced that credit information be deleted from CCS files
and from the files ;';)f three consumer credit repérting Bureaus. The Respondents charged the
Maryland resident.% a fee ‘.fo,r these ‘Ietters. |

9. OnMay 14, 201 9_ Chief Compliance Officer, CCS, complained to
the C(.)mmissioner;that the Respondents were engaged in a credit services business without a
iicense_also complained that the Respondents were making false and misleading
statements regarding credit accounts that were not actually in dispute, although CCS conceded it
had no direct'¢vidence of this contention. CCS complained that the Respondents méde false and
misleading stétemé;nfs .t'o CCS, to the BBB and to the CFPB by composing leﬂers for signatﬁre
by debtors with th_é Respondents’ addreés as the return address of the letters.

10, CCS c':gomplaincd iln its May- 14, 2019 complaint that the Respondénts were among
those whose practi-‘?:c is to inundate CCS or other data furnishers with disputes in hopes that the
furnisher will _clelcée the account from the consumers’ credit reports,

11. On Jufy 24,2019, Commissioner’s Investigator Velez-Dorey called Kevin Pitts,
who disclaimed kﬁowledge he was named as resident agent and disclaimed any felationship with
Respondent Finaneial Freedom, Within ten minutes of Ms. Velez-Dorsey’s coﬁversation with

| Mr. Pitts, 'Respomflant Goode called her to inquire about the purpose for a subpoena she had
received from the fifommiésibner, Respondent Goode said she had no idea a license was required
to engage in a credit services business and agreed to meet with Ms. Velez-Dorsey on August 5,
2019. Responde’n’f ivi[’roode did not attend the méeting. |
12. On Ati;lgust 28, 2019 Respondent Financial Freedom filed Articles of

Cancellation with the SDAT.

R



13. Respondent Financial Freedom maintained a website. On Oc?ober 9, 2019, the -
website described serviceé provided by Respondent Financial Freedom includliijlig bankruptcy;
credit repair; credit building; budget planning; financial planning; and life insurance. The
website inciuded.several first-name-only “testimonials” relating to the quality of credit repair
services provided by Respondent Financial Freedom, some attesting to the quality of services
érovided.speciﬁcally by Respondent Gooc_ie., The website also included articieslabout how to
- understand credit scores, how to qualify for a home loan, and included creditlrcl:;pair classes that
thése interested could register to attend, for a fee. The website offered “unbeatable prices” for its
services_. '

14. The website of Respondent Financial Freedom did not include; a criedit services
business license number issued by the Commissioner or contain any reference ro an exemption
granted by the Commissioner from the licensing requirement.

15. All efforts by the Commissioner to obtain the Respondents’ busin(;;ss fe_cords and to ,
schedule investigatory interviews with Respondent Goode or anyone affiliated .;\lavith Respondent
Financial Freedom failed. |

16. On October 15, 2020, the SDAT website reflected that Respondent Financial
Freedom was “dissolved,” and its business status was “not in good standing.” };\esponden't
Financial Freedom fell into a “nof in good standing” status with the SDAT in 2618 and did not

: X
file annual reports with SDAT for 2018 or 2019, |

17. At some time prior to October 15, 2020, Respondent Financial Freiedom revised its
‘SDAT profile to substitute Tawana Lee, of 2100 N. Pulaski Street, Baltimore, Marylanc_l 21217
as its resident agent. |

: . b :
18, The Respondents were never licensed by the Commissioner as a credit services

business.



19. The Respondents did not obtain a surety bond.

DISCUSSION

The Maryland Credit Services Businesses Act
Maryland law places various restrictions on those who purport to assist consumers in
obtaining credit anid purpert to assist consumers with improving or repairing their credit. These
restrictions include licensing, bonding and disclosure requirements.
Title 14, S%,lbtitle 19 of the Commercial Law Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland
is the. Maryland Cr edlt Services Businesses Act (MCSBA) Md. Code Ann, Com Law. §§ 14-
1901 through 14- 1916 (2013 & Supp. 2020)
The MCSBA defines a credit services business as follows:
{e}(1) “.Crgdit services business” means any person who, with respect to the
extension of credit by others, sells, provides, or performs, or represents that such
person can or will sell, provide, or perform, any of the following services in return
for the payment of money or other valuable consideration:
(i) Improving a consumer's credit record, history, or rating or establishing a
new credit file or record, or providing advice or assistance to a consumer
‘with regard to improving the consumer's credit record, history, or rating or
establishing a new credit file or record; or
(ii) Obtaining an extension of credit for a consumer, or providing advice or
assistance to a consumer with regard to obtalmng an extension of credit for
the consumer.
T :
Md. Code Ann., Com. Law § 14-1901¢e)(1)(1),(ii) (Supp. 2020).
A person is defined as follows:
(g) “Persor” includes an individual, corporation, government or governmental
subdivisioi or agency, business trust, statutory trust, estate, trust, partnership,
assomatlor' 2 or more persons having a joint or common interest, and any other
legal or commerclal entity.
Md. Code Ann,, Com, Law § 14- I901(g) (Supp. 2020).
Here, the Iﬁespondent Financial Freedom, in “person” form, and Respondent Goode,
engaged in a credié,t services business by providing.advice or assistance to Maryland consumers

with regard to imfy:roving the consumers’ credit record, history, or rating, and did so for money.

9



Regulation of Credit Serviees Busineeses

The MCSBA. applies to any contract with a Maryland resident invol\./ing cfedit services.
Md. Code Ann., Com. Law. § 14~19701(e)(3)'. The provisions of the MCSBA ar’e primarily
enforced by the Commissioner, who may issue cease and desist orders and initiate administrative
enforcement proceedings. Md. Code Ann, Com. Law §§ 14-1911-1913 (2013). The
Commissioner also has the authority, under the general enforcement authority of the
 Commissioner’s Office, to issuel a cease and desisf order, suspend or revoke a ficense, anci
impose a civil penalty of up to $10,000.00 for a first violation and up to $25,00_b.00 fer each
subsequent violation. Md. Code Ann., Fin. Inst. § 2-115(b).
Consumer Reporting Agency

Undez" the Commercial Law Article,

“Consumer reporting agency” means any persen which, for monetary fees, dues,

or on a cooperative nonprofit basis, regularly engages in whole or in part in the

practice of assembling or evaluating consumer credit information or other

information on consumers for the purpose of furnishing consumer reports to third

parties, and which uses any means or facility of commerce for the purpose of

preparing or furnishing consumer reports. .
Md. Code Ann., Com. Lew § 14-1201(f)(1) (2013).

Here, CCS is a consumer reporting egency.
Licensing Requirement

- Title 11, Subtitles 2 and 3 of the Financial Institutions Article of the Ar;:‘notat_ed Code of

Maryland requires those who engage in credit services business to be licensed ‘by the:
Commissioner. Title 11, Subtitle 2 provides:

(a) Unless a person is licensed by the Commissioner, the pefson may not:

£2) In any way‘use any advantage provided by the Maryland Consumer Loan

aw.

* Md. Code Ann, Fin. Inst. § 11-203.1(b) (2020).

10



Title 11,-'Sj:.1btitle 3 also provides:
(b) Unless the person is licensed by the Commissioner, a person may not:

- (3) Engage in the business of a credit services business as defined under Tlﬂe 14,
‘Subtitle 19 of the Commercial Law Article, - :

Md. Code Ann., Fin, Inst, § 11-302(b) (2020).
Section 14-1903 of the Commercial Law Article also requires credit services businesses
to be licensed by the Commissioner. In relevant part section 14-1903 provides:

(by A'credit serviees business is required to be licensed under this subtitle and is
subject to the licensing, investigatory, enforcement, and penalty provisions of this
subtitle and Title 11, Subtitle 3 of the Financial Institutions Article.

(¢) A license requi’re‘d by this subtitle shall be issued by the Commissioner.

() A person not included within the definition of a credit services business as
provided in § 14- 1901(e)(3) of this subtitle is exempt from licensure requirements
undel this a»ubt:tle

Md. Code Ann., Gon1. Law § 14—1903(b) through (d) (2013).

5 Section 14-1901(e) of the Commercial Law Article describes exemptlons from the definition of a credit services business,
as follows:

(3) “Credit services buglness does not include: :

(i} Any person authorized to make loans or extensions of credit under the laws of this State or the United States who is
actively engaged in the business of making loans or other extensions of credit to residents of this State;

(ii) Any bank, trust company, savings bank, or savings and loari association whose deposits or accounts are eligible for
insurance by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any credit union organized and chartered under the laws of this
State or the United States;

(iiiy Any nonprofit or gamzatlon exempt from taxation under § 501(c)(3) of the [nternal Revenue Code (20 U.S.C. §
501(c)(3));

(iv) Any person licensed as a real estate broke1 an associate real estate brokei or a real éstate salesperson by this State

where the person is acting within the course and scope of that license;

(v) Any person licensed as a mortgage lender by this State;

(vi) An individual admitted to the Bar of the Court of Appeals of Maryland when the individual renders services w1thm the
course and scope of practice by the individual as a lawyer and does not engage in the credit services business on a regular
and continuing basis; -

(vii) Any broker-dealer registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission or the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission where thé broker-dealer is acting within the course and scope of that regulation;

(viii) Any consumer reporting agency as defined in the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 1681- 1681t) or in
§ 14-1201(f) of this title;

(ix) An individual licensed by the Maryland Board of Public Accountancy when the individual renders services within the
course and scope of practice by the individual as a certified public accountant and does not engage in the credit services
business on a regular and continuing basis; or

(x) Beginning July I, 2013, a mortgage assistance relief service provider regulated under Tltle 7, Subtitle 5 of the Real
Property Article. = -

Md Code Ann,, Com. Law § 14-1901(e)(3)(i) through (ix) (2013).
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Here, the Respondents, as a credit services business, were required to have a
license to engage in a credit services business for compensation. They did not.”
License Number Required in Advertisements
Under the MCSBA, those engaged in a credit services business must state the
license number issued by the Commissioner in their advertising, The MCSBA provides:.
A person who advertises a service described in § 14-1901(e)(1) of this subtitle,
whether or not a credit services business, shall clearly and conspicuously state in
each advertisement the number of:
(1) The license issued under § 14-1903 of this subt1tle or

(2) If not required to be licensed, the exemption provided by thé
Commissioner.

1

' Md Code Ann., Com. Law § 14-1903.1 (2013).

Here, the Réspondents were required to conspicﬁously state in their ‘
advertisements the number of the license issued by the Commissioner or the be;'sis for
their qualiﬁcation for an exemption from the licensing requirement. They did :1_j”0t_
Surety Bond

A credit services business is required {0 obtain a surety bond pursuant to Title 11,
Subtitle 3 of the Financial Iﬁstitutions Article, Md. Code Ann, Com..Law § 14-} 1908 |
@013, | |

Hére, the Respondents had '110 surety bond.
Prohibited Acts o !

In rele\}aﬁt part, the MCSBA provides: | 4

A credit services business, its employees, and independent contractors Who sell or
attempt to sell the services of a credit services business shall not:

(1) Receive any money or other valuable consideration from the consumer, unless
the credit services business has secured from the Commissioner a license under
Title 11, Subtitle 3 of the Financial Institutions Article;

(3) Make, or assist or advise any consumer to make, any statement or other
representation that is false or misleading, or which by the exercise of reasonable

:
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care shouic)l: be known to be false or misleading, to a consumer reporting agency,
governmer,:{,t agency, or person to whom the consumer applies or intends to apply
for an extension of credit, regarding a consumer's creditworthiness, credit
standing, credit capacity, or true identity; .
{4) Make or use any false or misleading representations in the offer or sale of the
services of a credit services business.
Md. Code Ann., Com. Law § 14-1902(1), (3) and (4). (2013).
An “exteos:ion of credit” means the right to defer paymoﬁt of debt or to incur debt and
defer its payment,'offered or granted primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. Md.
Code Ann., Com. Law § 14-1901{f) (2013).
The Charges
The Comniissioner charged the Respondents in Count 1 of the Charge Letter with

accepting money ffrom Maryland consumers to engage in unlicensed credit services business.

The Respondents dld so. Thus, they v1olated section 14- 1902(1) (Count 1, recelvmg money from

Maryland consumors to engage in a credit services ‘ousmess without a l1cense)
 The Comrr,‘ussmner charged the Respondents in Count 2 of the Charge Letter with

assisting or advisir:lg Marylanol consumers to make a statement that is false or misleading to
persons to whom the consumers applied for an extension of credit. The Commissioner presented
no evidence of fal.a:e or misleading statements made by the Respondents on behalf of Maryland
consumers in conj;Jnotion with an application for extension of credit. Thus, the Respondents are
not in violation of section 14-&902(3) of the Commeroial Law Article. (Count 2, misleading
statements to a oe;;son fo whom a consumer has applied for an extension of credit).

The Comr;;issioner charged the Respondents in Count 3 of the Charé;e Letter with making

or using false or misleading representations in the offer or sale of credit services business

_ services. The Commissioner offered the Respondents’ website as evidence. I find nothing

: i _ ‘ _
directly misleading on the website, However, the website is misleading by omission. First, the
website makes no reference to whether Respondents” are licensed by the Commissioner or
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exempt from licensing. Second, the website does not mention that as 0of 2018, ;when it failed to
file a financial statement with the SDAT, Respondent Financial Freedom was 150 longer a
busine}ss in good standing with the SDAT. Third, the website makes no referénr;e in October
2019 that Respondent Financial Freedom had, on August 28, 2019, filed an Artjcles of
Cancellation with the SDAT. Thus, the Respondents are in violation of ,section"l 4-1902(4) of the
Comxﬁercial Law Article {(Count 3, -false or misleading repreéentations in the offer or sale of
credit services business ser_vices). |
The Commissioner charge& the Respondents in Count 4 of the Chérge Letter with
engaging in the credit services business without a license. The Respondents did so. Thus, they
are in violation of section 14-1903(b) of the Commercial Law Artic_:le; and sections 11-203.1 and
11-302(b) of the Financial Institutions Article (Count 4, engaging in the business of a credit
services buéiness without a license and without 1.being exempt from the licenSin.g requirement).
‘The Commissioner charged the Respondents in Count 5 of the Charge Letter with failure
to conspicuously state the license number issued by the Commissioner in their f'c‘ldver‘;ising, orto
state any exemption from licensing. The Respondents failed to conspicuously sfate their license
number because they did not hﬁﬁe a license. No evidence was Apres.ented thét the Respondents
were exempt from the licensing requi'rement.6 Thus, the Respondents violated s;"ection 14-1903.1
of the Commercial Law Articlé (Count S, failure to conspicuously state a license number or
exemption in advertising). | |
- The Commissioner charged the Respondenfs in'Count 6 of the Charge ]:i'etter with

failure to obtain a surety bond. The Respondents failed to do so. Thus, they aré in

8 Under section 14-1907 of the Commercial Law Article “In any proceeding involving this subtitle, the burden of

proving an exemption or an exception from a definition is upon the person claiming it.” Md. Code Ann., Com. Law .
§ 14-1907(d) (2013). The Respondents did not appear at the hearing and thus provided no ploof they quallf' ied for an .
exemption from the llcensmg requirement.
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violation of sectim} 14-17908 of the Commerciél Law Article (Count 6, failure to obtain a
surety bond). | | | |
_ Potential Sanctiql;';s

The Commissioner has the authority uncier the Financial Institutioné Article tol impose
Financial and othe.r saﬁctibns against the Respondents, as follows:

(b) When the Commissioner determines after notice and a hearing, unless the
right to nofice and a hearing is waived, that a person has engaged in an act or
practice constituting a violation of a law, regulation, rule or order over which the
Commissioner has jurisdiction, the Commissioner may in the Commissioner's
discretion and in addition to taking any other action authorized by law:
(1) Issue a final cease and desist order against the person;

(2) Suspend or revoke the license of the person;

(3) Issue a penalty order agalnst the person imposing a civil penalty not

exceeding: ‘

(i) $10,000 for a first Vlolatlon; and

(ii) $25,000 for each subsequent violation; or

(4) Take any combination of the actions specified in this subsection.

{(c) In determining the amount of financial penalty to be imposed under subsection
(b) of this-section, the Commissioner shall consider the following factors:

{1) The seriousness of the violation;

(2) ThHe good faith of the violator;

(3) The violator's history of previous violations;

(4) The deleterious effect of the violation on the pubhc and the industry

involved;.

(5) Tl?e assets of the violator; and

(6) Any other factors relevant to the determination of the financial penalty.

Md. Code Ann,, Fin. Inst. § 2-115 (2020).
Similarly,.::;e_ction 14-1911 of the'Coﬁnnercial Law Article provides, in relevant part:
{d) The 'Cq’:rmnis_sioner may:

{6) Issue cease and desist orders, after finding a pattern and practice of violation
of this subfitle. .

(f)(1) If, atter the hearing, the Commissioner finds that the credit services
business, or the salesperson, agent, representative, or independent contractor
acting on behalf of the credit services business, has engaged or is engaging in any
act or practice prohibited by this subtitle, the Commissioner shall order the credit
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services business or the person or both to cease and desist from the act br practice
and may order that restitution be paid to an aggrieved consumer. '

Md. Code Aﬁn., Com. Law § 14-1911(d)(6) and (£)(1) (2013).
Appropriate Sanction

| The Respondents filed Articles of Organization in 2017 in which it desé;ibed its business
as tolprovide assistance to consumers to improve their FICO scores and to maki'.f: it easier and
poséib.le to purchase a home or vehicle. The Respondents were never licensed I‘Jy the
Commissioner as a credit sérvices business and never obtained a surety bond. |

The Respondents drafted and mailed letters to CCS signed by aggrieveg‘i consumers but
bearing the Respondents’ return address. AThe Respondents drafted and mailed %etters to the BBB
and to the CFPB complaining about CCS, signed by aggrieved consumers. W}{;?Ie the Respondents
never acknowledged to CCS, to the BBB, or to the CFPB that they represented% aggrieved
consﬁmers, the Respondents assisted aggrieved consﬁmers to draft these 1etters‘:. The letters had
Respondent Financial Freedom’s business'aéldress as the address from which the letters were sent,
and the letters were almost identical in language and tone. The Respondents.m.-ﬂintéi'ned a website
advertising a variety of credit-related services and offering classes on how to ﬁgiderstand credit and
credit ratings. On their website, the Respondents did not include a credit servicjff,:s bﬁsiness liceﬁse
number issue'd by the Commis.;sioner.

Whgn Reslpondent Goode spoke to Investigator lVelez—Dorsey in Augus'ft'2019, Respondent
qude told Ms. Velez-Dorsey she did not know a license was required to engar;‘ge in a credit
services business. Later the same month Respondent Financial Freedom filed Articies of
Cancellation with the SDAT. However, in October 2019, Respohdent Financia:l' Freeciom’s website

was still active and advertising its services to Maryland consumers. The Commissioner presented
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no evidence, however, that the Respondents committed any additional violations after the filing of
the Articles of Carncellation other than the continued presence of the website.

The Commissioner suggests a total fine of $25,000.00 is appropriate. The Commissioner
suggests this fine is warranted by:

e $1,000.00 for each of six consumers from whom the Respondents recelved money
to prov1de credit services business without a license;

e $1,000.00 for cach misrepresentation made on behalf of consumers who had applied
for extensions of credit. However, I conclude no such misrepresentations were
made; '

e $1,000.00 for each of six consumers for whom the Respondents failed to include a

license number or exemption in its advertising;

e " $1,000.00 for each of six consumers for failing to obtain a license from the

_ Commissioner; and,
e a$1,000.00 general fine.

The Commissioner also suggests a cease and desist order is appropriate.

In makingl;a.recommendétion as to the appropriate sanction I have considered that none
of Respondents’ l\{{aryland consumers complained to the Commissioner. I have also considered
the penalty factors,.‘as found in section 2-115 of the Financial Institutions Article.

First, the éommissioner presented no etridenoe of the seriousness of the violations, and
no evidence that eny Marylend consumer was harmed.

Second; the Commissioner presented no evidence that the Respondents were not acting.in
good faith on behdlf of Maryland consumers. CCS complained that the Respondents represented
 that the debt CCS sought to collect or report was invelid, but CCS conceded it had no proof the
invalid debt claim_:; were false, The CCS connplaint was that the Respondents were engaged in a
method oommonl}t used by credit services businesses to harass CCS into deleting debtors’
accounts, |

Third, no-ﬁist01y of previous violations was presented.

"
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Fourth, no evidence was presented that the credit services business il’idilStl'y in Mafylan&
suffered any deleterious effect or that the industry’s esteem in the public eye V\fas negatively
affected. |

Fifth, no evidence of the assets of the Bespondent waé presented, No e{{i'dence'was
preser_lted that the Respondents took financial advantage of Maryland consuméi‘s, charged money
for services never delivered, or otherwise enjoyed unmerited financial gains.

Sixth, the Commissioner pl'esented no evidence of additional factors to suggest ‘a
substantial financial pénalty is warranted.

Under section 14-1911(d)(6) of the Commercial Law Article, the Comr:;lissioner may
jssue cease and desist orders to violators after finding a pattern and practice of violation of the
MCBSA. Under section 14-1911(1)(1) of the Commercial Law Article if, after la hearing, the
Commmissioner finds that the credit services business ﬁas engaged in any prohiﬁited.act‘or
practice, the Commissioner shall order the credit services business or the ‘perso_n ot both to cease
and desist from the act or practice and may order that restitution be paid to an s‘lggrieved
cbnsumer.

The Commissioner produced no evidence o_f the dollar amount that any-Maryland
consumer paid the Respondents for their services. And it produced no evidence of any aggrieved
Maryland consumers. Thus, restitution is inappropriate. ‘

After weighing all factors, 1 conclude a cease and desist order is approp-ljiate, in

| conjunction with a fine of $1,000.00. The gravamen of the violations is that the Respondents did
not obtain a license from. the Commissioner to engage in a credit services business, and that they
drafted and mailed a few letters to assist M_alyiand consumers with obtaining information as to
the accuracy of credit information being reported by CCS. The Comumnissioner presented no

evidence any Maryland resident was harmed — that is, that Maryland consumers paid for services
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!
never received or that the price of those services greatly outweighed the benefit, The
Commi_séioner prei:;sented no evidence that the reputétion of the crédi; servipes industry was
~ harmed, or that the Respondents had previous violations or defied the authority of the
Commissioner. When the Respondents became aware they were being investigated, they filed
Articles of Canceliation with the SDAT. No evidence of any violation after cancellation wag
presented other than the continued presence of Respondent Financial Freedom’s website, .

The $25,0[}0.00 financial benaity suggésted by the Commissioner is unwarranted under

the circurstances.

PROPOSED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Respondents violated section 14-1902(1) of the Commercial Law Article by
-receiving money d;:r other valuable considerations from Maryland consumers without'bei_ng
licensed as a credf‘é services business by the Commissioner. Md. Code Ann., Com. Law § 14-
1902(1) (2013).

2. The Reéppﬁdents did not violate section 14-1902(3) of the Commercial L'altw Article
by ass_isting or advgiéing Matryland con;sumers to make a statement that is false or misleading to
the person to W_hO.I“i‘l the consumers applied for an extension of cfedit regardjng the consumer’s
credit standing. Md Code Ann., Com. Law § 14-1902(3) (2013).

3. The Re?spondents violated section 14-1902(4) of the Commercial Law .'Article by
making false or miéleadi_ng representations in the offer or sale of the services of a credit selj‘}ices
business.. Md. Code Ann., Com. Law § 14-1902(4) (2013).

4. The R_ga:::;;pondents violated section 14-1903 of the Commercial Law Article and
sectioﬂs 11-203.1 imd 11-302(b) of the Financial Institutions Article by engaging in a credit
services business }:fwithout being licensed to do so by the Commissioqer_. Md. Code Ann., Com,

Law § 14-1903 (2013), Md. Code Ann., Fin. Inst. §§ 11-203.1(b) and 11-302(b) (2020).
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5. The Respondents violated section 14-1903.1 of the Commercial Law Article by
fgiling to conspicuously state a license number issued by the Commissioner in their advertising.
Md. Code Ann., Com. Law § 14-_1903.1 (2013). (

6. The Respondents violated section 14-1.908 of the Commetcial Law .Article by‘
conducting a credit services business without a surety bond. Md. Code Ann., Com. Law § 1j4-

1908 (2013).

RECOMMENDED ORDER

I RECOMMEND that the Commissioner:
ORDER that the Respbndents shall immediately CEASE AND DESIST from engaging
in any credit services busineés activities.
ORDER the Respondents to pay a fine of $1,000.00, and,
ORDER _fhat the records and publications of the Commissioner reflect vhis decision,
Weokadd £ Oaborin
January 13, 2021

Date Decision Issued Michael R. Osborn
Administrative Law Judge
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